IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FELIX PERKINS

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2008-KA-01387-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

- 1. State of Mississippi
- 2. Felix Perkins
- 4 Laurence Y. Mellen, and the Coahoma County District Attorney's Office
- 5. Honorable Charles E. Webster

THIS 3rd day of February, 2009.

Respectfully submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
FACTS
SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE
ISSUE NO. 2: IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL
CONCLUSION 12
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

CASES:

Ballenger v. State, 667 So.2d 1242 (Miss. 1995)
Benson v. State, 551 So.2d 188 (Miss. 1989)
Chinn v. State, 958 So.2d 1223 (Miss. 2007)
Colenburg v. State, 735 So. 2d 1099 (Miss. App. 1999)
Enlow v. State, 878 So.2d 1111 (Miss.App. 2004)
Goff v. State, 778 So.2d 779 (Miss.App. 2000)
Gray v. State, 487 So.2d 1304 (Miss. 1986)
Gray v. State, 549 So.2d 1316 (Miss. 1989)
Gray v. State, 728 So.2d 36 (Miss. 1998)
Green v. State, 884 So.2d 733 (Miss. 2004)
Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297 (Miss. 1983)
Grubb v. State, 584 So.2d 786 (Miss. 1991)
Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948 (Miss. 1997)
Hiter v. State, 660 So. 2d 961 (Miss. 1995)
Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964 (Miss. 1985)
Madison v. State, 923 So.2d 252 (Miss. App. 2006)
McFee v. State, 511 So.2d 130 (Miss. 1987)
McQuarter v. State, 574 So.2d 685 (Miss. 1990)9
Miller v. State, 733 So.2d 846 (Miss.App. 1998)

Poole v. State, 94 So.2d 239 (Miss. 1957)
Read v. State, 430 So.2d 832 (Miss. 1983)
Roach v. State, 938 So.2d 863 (Miss.App. 2006)
Samuels v. State, 371 So.2d 394 (Miss. 1979)
Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984)9
Walton v. State, No. 2006-KA-01065-COA (Miss. App. November 13, 2007) 10
Walton v. State, No. 2006-CT-01065-SCT (Miss. November 13, 2008)
CONSTITUTIONAL AUTHORITIES
United States Constitution, Sixth Amendment
United States Constitution, Fourteenth Amendment Due Process Clause
Mississippi Constitution, Article 3 Section 26
STATUTES
Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-142
Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-146
Miss Code App. 899-19-81

•

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

ISSUE NO. 2: IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Coahoma Count, Mississippi and a judgment of conviction for the crime of sale, transfer or delivery of a controlled substance (cocaine) within 1500 feet of a church against the appellant, Felix Perkins. Tr. 139, C.P. 28-29, R.E. 15. Perkins was subsequently sentenced to serve thirty (30) years without the possibility of parole as an habitual offender under Miss. Code Ann. §99-19-81 in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections¹. Tr. 152-53, C.P. 30-32, R.E. 17. This sentence followed a jury trial on July 24, 2008, Honorable Charles E. Webster, presiding. Perkins is currently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According to the testimony presented at trial, on August 31, 2006, James Hollingsworth, a confidential informant for the Clarksdale Police Department, was on an undercover "buy-bust" operation for the police department. Tr. 55-56. Hollingsworth's car was outfitted with audio and video surveillance equipment. Tr. 58.

¹The trial judge elected not to impose any additional sentence based on the enhancement allowed in Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-142 for the sale occurring near a church. Tr. 152.

After driving in Clarksdale for fifteen to twenty minutes, Hollingsworth approached an African-American male, whom he identified as the appellant, Felix Perkins, who approached his car and asked what he wanted. Hollingsworth asked for "40 hard" of crack cocaine and Perkins requested that he drive around the block. Hollingsworth drove around the block and when he returned the appellant approached his window and asked if he was a confidential informant. Tr. 92. Hollingsworth denied being an informant, and asked to see the substance to confirm that it was indeed cocaine. He then purchased it from Perkins for \$40. Tr. 93.

Hollingsworth then returned to the Clarksdale-Coahoma County Airport with the alleged crack cocaine and turned it over to Sergeant Ricky Bridges and Corporal Joseph Wide of the Clarksdale Police Department. Tr. 60, 76. Following a search of Hollingsworth and his car, the substance was placed in the Clarksdale Police Department's evidence locker. Tr. 61. Following placement in the evidence locker, the substance was sent to the Mississippi Crime Laboratory for testing on September 25, 2006, almost one month after the substance was purchased. Tr. 78. Teresia Hickmon, a forensic scientist at the Mississippi Crime Laboratory, tested the substance and found that it did indeed contain .55 grams of cocaine base. Tr. 85.

Perkins took the stand in his own defense and testified that he did not sell Hollingsworth cocaine but, in fact, sold him sheetrock in an attempt to get a free \$40. Tr. 107. That is why he asked Hollingsworth to make the block, as he knew the man would not buy something he saw Perkins pick up off the ground. Tr. 104. Perkins explained that he

knew it was a crime to sell a counterfeit drug, so inquired if Hollingsworth was an informant.

Tr. 107. Perkins testified that he was a former crack addict and was not sure the man would believe the sheetrock was cocaine, but the man paid him \$40 and drove off. Tr. 104-05.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The verdict in this case was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The evidence presented failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Perkins actually sold cocaine to a violent prior convicted felon within 1500 feet of a church. There were numerous factual discrepancies present in the evidence admitted which did not support the jury's verdict, and Perkins is therefore entitled to a new trial. Finally, in the alternative, Perkins was clearly deprived of effective assistance of counsel. Although counsel presented a theory of defense that Perkins sold counterfeit drugs the informant, counsel failed to present any jury instructions to allow the jury to find Perkins guilty of that lesser offense. Perkins should be granted a new trial with competent counsel.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1; WHETHER THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

Perkins first asserts that the verdict of guilty to selling cocaine was clearly against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Trial counsel raised a claim regarding the weight of the evidence in his Motion for J.N.O.V. or in the Alternative, Motion for a New Trial. C.P. 33., R.E. 20. The trial court denied this motion. C.P. 35, R.E. 22. This was error.

"In determining whether a jury verdict is against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, this Court must accept as true the evidence which supports the verdict and will reverse only when convinced that the circuit court has abused its discretion in failing to grant a new trial." *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). "Only in those cases where the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice will this Court disturb it on appeal." *Id. See also Benson v. State*, 551 So.2d 188, 193 (Miss. 1989), citing *Groseclose v. State*, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983); *McFee v. State*, 511 So.2d 130, 133-34 (Miss. 1987).

In the case sub judice, there were several holes in the evidence which conveys serious doubt on the jury's verdict. For example, the exact location of the sale was never sufficiently established. Sergeant Bridges testified the buy occurred on the corner of Sixth and Barnes. Tr. 70. This is crucial, as Bridges calculated the distance to a nearby church from this location. However, Bridges admitted he did not actually witness the transaction. Tr. 72. Therefore, he could not accurately know the location to the church. This was a material element of the offense the jury was required to find existed beyond a reasonable doubt or find the defendant not guilty. C.P. 51. The jury was not given the option of finding Perkins guilty of simply selling cocaine without reference to his location.

The actual informant, Hollingworth, testified the buy occurred on the intersection of Sixth and Page. Tr. 97. There was no testimony on how far the church was from this location. Furthermore, Perkins testified the incident occurred on Prince Street. Tr. 105. To further complicate the proof on this element, Corporal Wide testified in rebuttal that he

believed the sale occurred on the corner of Sixth and Grant. He was not sure, but only knew it was somewhere on Grant Street. He also did not witness the exact location of the sale. Tr. 112.

The verdict is clearly against the weight of the evidence on this element. The State chose to allege this in the indictment as an element of the offense. C.P. 3, R.E. 9. The jury was also instructed that finding the buy was within 1500 feet of a church was an element of the offense. C.P. 51, R.E. 12. The State was therefore required to prove this beyond a reasonable doubt. *Gray v. State*, 728 So.2d 36 (¶176-77) (Miss. 1998). It is immaterial that the court did not sentence Perkins based on this enhancement. Tr. 152. No reasonable jury could put any faith into the evidence presented detailing where this transaction occurred. Perkins is entitled to a new trial.

In addition to the location of the transaction, there were also other problems with the evidence. The informant, Hollingworth, was a paid,² violent, prior convicted felon, having served 20 years for armed robbery. Tr. 56-57, 72, 96. His credibility was questionable, as he was compensated only if the video was good, not if the target was eventually convicted. It did not matter what substance he purchased as long as the video was of good quality. Tr. 71. The search of Hollingsworth was not captured on tape, nor was the transfer of the substance to the officers. Tr. 64, 114. Neither of the two officers monitoring the informant personally saw the transaction. Tr. 59, 112.

² However, it should be noted that Sergeant Bridges could not actually remember how much Hollingsworth was paid. Tr. 71.

Sergeant Bridges admitted no field test of the substance was conducted at the post-buy meeting. Tr. 77. The substance sat in a police safe for almost a month before it was sent for testing. Tr. 78. Corporal Wide testified fake or counterfeit drugs that are recovered are also taken to the police station and placed in property, although in a "different place." Tr. 113. It is clear that sheetrock is not a controlled substance. Tr. 90. Hollingworth could not even testify with any degree of certainty that substance was actually crack cocaine. Tr. 97. He admitted it looked like cocaine, but he was not sure and was no expert. Tr. 98. Even Sergeant Bridges testified Hollingsworth simply gave him the substance, which he labeled and placed in the evidence locker. Tr. 60-61.

Although in rebuttal Corporal Wide testified he knew the difference between the texture of sheetrook and cocaine (Tr. 111), when asked if he ever handled the substance, Wide testified he looked at it.

- A. Yes, I saw it when he brought it back.
- Q. And who did he give it to?
- A. He gave it to Sergeant Bridges.
- Q. Did you ever handle it?
- A. Yes, I looked at it. I just looked at it when he had it; I looked at it when he returned it back to the location.

Tr. 113.

Finally, Perkins himself took the stand to explain that he was simply trying to make a quick \$40 by selling sheetrock to an unsuspecting crack user. Tr. 107. He explained that he needed to send the buyer around the block so that he would not see Perkins pick up the sheetrock from the ground. Tr. 104. This testimony, combined with the weak evidence

presented by the State, was simply not enough to convict Perkins. The Crime Lab may have tested a piece of crack cocaine, but the weight of the evidence does not suggest Perkins delivered or sold crack cocaine to Hollingsworth. Perkins is entitled to a new trial.

ISSUE NO. 2: IN THE ALTERNATIVE, WHETHER THE APPELLANT WAS DEPRIVED OF EFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL, DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL.

In the alternative, Perkins would also assert that he was deprived of a fair trial due to ineffective assistance of counsel. Counsel presented a theory of defense based on Perkins's testimony that he sold sheetrock to the CI, not cocaine. However, counsel failed to submit any type of jury instruction to support this theory of defense. Counsel did not object to the form of the verdict instruction (S-2), which gave the jury only the option of finding Perkins guilty of selling cocaine next to a church, or finding him not guilty of any crime. Tr. 120, R.E. 13.

Shater

Even if appropriate, instructions must be requested by counsel. *Poole v. State*, 94 So.2d 239, 240 (Miss. 1957). It is not usually a trial court's duty to prepare instructions for either party. *Samuels v. State*, 371 So.2d 394, 396 (Miss. 1979), and *Ballenger v. State*, 667 So.2d 1242, 1252 (Miss. 1995). Since counsel did not request an instruction on the theory of the case, the issue should probably be reviewed on a plain error standard which requires an error that results in "a manifest miscarriage of justice" or an adversely affected fundamental or substantive right. *Gray v. State*, 487 So.2d 1304, 1312 (Miss. 1986), *Gray v. State*, 549 So.2d 1316, 1321 (Miss. 1989), and *Grubb v. State*, 584 So.2d 786, 789 (Miss. 1991).

Failure to seek proper jury instructions deprives a criminal defendant of the fundamental constitutional right to a fair trial, as a defendant is entitled to have the jury fully and properly instructed on theories of defense for which there is a factual basis in evidence. *Chinn v. State*, 958 So.2d 1223 (¶13) (Miss. 2007). It is clear from the testimony that Perkins knew that selling sheetrock as cocaine would be a crime. Perkins provided a basis for the instruction when he explained that is why he asked Hollingsworth if he were an informant.

- A. ... It was sheetrook and, um, I just asked him for me if he was an informer because I know for a fact that if I sold him sheetrock I'm still breaking the law because I would be selling a counterfeit substance.
- Q. You admit you were breaking the law that day?
- A. Yes, yes, I definitely admit that I sold sheetrock.

Tr. 107.

Miss. Code Ann. §41-29-146 (Supp. 1982), makes it a crime to sell any substance falsely represented to be a controlled substance. Subsection (3) of the statute states that anyone convicted of selling a counterfeit drug is guilty of a misdemeanor. Perkins was indicted for selling cocaine as an habitual offender which an enhancement of conducting the transaction within 1500 feet of a church. Perkins was facing a possible sentence of 60 years without parole. Under §41-29-149(c), the maximum penalty Perkins faced under conviction was up to one year in the county jail and/or a \$1,000 fine. Under this circumstance, it can not be considered reasonable trial strategy to go for a straight acquittal, and not submit this lesser offense instruction.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held it was reversible error to deny a lesser nonincluded offense instruction of selling a counterfeit drug when there was evidence to support the instruction submitted at trial. In *Green v. State*, 884 So.2d 733 (¶11-15) (Miss. 2004), the Court acknowledged that selling a counterfeit drug was not a lesser-included offense to sale of cocaine, but was a lesser offense. Since the defendant testified he sold "bunk" and not cocaine, and the undercover agent is even heard suggesting he thought it was fake, there was sufficient evidence to grant the instruction. *Id.* In the case at bar, Perkins testified the substance was sheetrock, not cocaine. Since there was no definitive testimony from the informant or the other officers present that the substance was in fact cocaine³, Perkins would have certainly been entitled to the instruction had his counsel requested it.

The benchmark for judging any claim ineffectiveness of trial counsel is whether counsel's conduct undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984). In *Madison v. State*, 923 So. 2d 252 (¶10) (Miss. App. 2006), this Court reiterated that *Strickland* is the standard, as the Mississippi Supreme Court

applies the two-part test from Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), to claims of ineffective assistance of counsel. McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Under Strickland, the defendant bears the burden of proof to show that (1) counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. Id. There is a strong but rebuttable presumption that counsel's performance fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. This presumption may be rebutted with a showing that, but for counsel's deficient performance, a different result would have occurred. Leatherwood v. State, 473 So. 2d 964, 968 (Miss. 1985). This Court must examine the totality of the circumstances in determining whether counsel was effective. Id.

³No field test was conducted at the post-buy meeting. Tr. 77.

If the issue of ineffective assistance of counsel is raised on direct appeal, the Court will look to whether: "(a) . . . the record affirmatively shows ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions, or (b) the parties stipulate that the record is adequate and the Court determines that findings of fact by a trial judge able to consider the demeanor of witnesses, etc. are not needed." *Madison*, 923 So.2d at ¶11, citing *Read v. State*, 430 So.2d 832, 841 (Miss. 1983).

The appellant stipulates through present counsel that the record is adequate for this Court to determine this issue and that a finding of fact by the trial judge is not needed. "When a defendant raises an ineffective assistance claim on direct appeal, the question before this Court is whether the judge, as a matter of law, had a duty to declare a mistrial or order a new trial *sua sponte*, on the basis of trial counsel's performance." *Roach v. State*, 938 So.2d 863, 870 (Miss.App. 2006)(citing *Colenburg v. State*, 735 So. 2d 1099, 1102 (Miss. App. 1999). Under the facts of this case, the trial judge had a duty to make sure the jury was instructed on the defense theory of the case, even if counsel failed to do so. The ineffectiveness was apparent from the record and the trial judge should have taken some action to protect Perkins's constitutional rights.

If this Court finds, however, that the record does not affirmatively show ineffective assistance of counsel, Perkins respectfully requests the issue be dismissed without prejudice to allow appellant to supplement the record with additional evidence on post-conviction. See *Walton v. State*, No. 2006-KA-01065-COA (¶15) (Miss. App. November 13, 2007), *aff'd*, *Walton v. State*, No. 2006-CT-01065-SCT (Miss. November 13, 2008).

Perkins's jury was not given the opportunity to find him guilty of the offense he admitted to committing on the stand. Unlike *Enlow v. State*, 878 So.2d 1111 (¶14) (Miss.App. 2004), there was an evidentiary basis for the instruction. This Court has held that even the "flimsiest of evidence" is sufficient to grant an instruction on a defendant's theory of the case. *Miller v. State*, 733 So.2d 846 (¶7) (Miss.App. 1998)." *Goff v. State*, 778 So.2d 779 (¶5) (Miss.App. 2000).

The jury faced the option of finding him guilty of selling cocaine next to a church, or letting him go home. A properly instructed jury is a fundamental right, and counsel's failure to seek the same, unless strategy clearly indicated otherwise, would infringe on a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial. *Green*, *supra*, at ¶11-15, Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, and Article 2 §26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

Counsel's deficiency leaves no doubt that Perkins was denied his Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel, as well his rights under Article 3 Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. Perkins was clearly prejudiced by counsel's actions, as the jury had no means to find him guilty of the lesser offense.

Given the unique situation Perkins was facing, as well as the defense he provided to the jury, failure to submit a lesser offense instruction in this case can not reasonably be considered trial strategy. Given the nature of the offense and the fact that the substance sat in a evidence locker for a month before even being sent off for testing, there is a reasonable probability that but for counsel's performance, the result of this trial would have been different. *Colenburg*, 735 So.2d at ¶27. Under the totality of the circumstances, Perkins is entitled to a new trial. *Hiter v. State*, 660 So. 2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995).

CONCLUSION

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