IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FELIX PERKINS

APPELLANT

VS.

±'

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-KA-1387-COA

.

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue No. 1. The trial judge did not abuse his judicial discretion in overruling Perkins's motion for a new trial based, in part, on the ground the verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence.

The verdict of the jury was supported by sufficient credible testimony and evidence identifying Perkins as the purveyor of cocaine and not merely "sheetrock" removed from the ground while Hollingsworth was making the block. Testimony and evidence suggesting otherwise does not preponderate in favor of Perkins. Allowing the verdict to stand would not sanction an unconscionable injustice.

Hollingsworth's testimony identifying Felix Perkins as the seller of cocaine was corroborated by the testimony of Officer Bridges, Teresia Hickmon, and the rebuttal testimony of Officer Wide. Both Hickmon and Wide identified the substance as cocaine, not sheetrock. In the end, the testimony of Perkins identifying the substance as sheetrock does not outweigh the State's proof demonstrating otherwise.

In addition, the testimony of Sergeant Bridges that the transaction took place "... just west of the intersection of Sixth and Barnes" and was measured to be a distance of 147 feet from "... the Calvary Missionary Baptist Church located at the intersection of Barnes and Sixth," was proof enough it occurred within 1500 feet of a church. (R. 70)

But even if it was not and the evidence on this point preponderates in favor of the defendant, Perkins's conviction for sale of cocaine, absent other error, may still be affirmed because the sale or transfer at any location is by definition a lesser included offense of a sale or transfer taking place within 1,500 feet of a church.

Ordinarily, this appeal would be a prime candidate for application of the remand for resentencing rule.

"A jury verdict may be affirmed as to guilt, but the case remanded for re-sentencing when the proof is not sufficient to sustain a conviction for the crime charged, but is sufficient to sustain a conviction for a lesser included offense." Biles v. State, 338 So.2d 1004, 1005 (Miss. 1976); Wells v. State, 305 So.2d 333 (Miss. 1974); Anderson v. State, 290 So.2d 628 (Miss. 1974). *See also* Gibby v. State, 744 So.2d 244 (Miss. 1999).

In the case at bar, however, affirmation minus remand is the order of the day because the trial judge, as noted by Perkins in footnote 1 of his excellent brief, "... elected not to impose any additional sentence based on the enhancement allowed in Miss.Code Ann. §41-29-142 for the sale occurring near a church." (Brief of the Appellant at 1)

In this posture, assuming, as Perkins claims, the evidence, because of numerous factual discrepancies, "... failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Perkins actually sold cocaine to a violent prior convicted felon within 1500 feet of a church," Perkins's conviction of sale at any location in the county may be affirmed as a lesser included offense. By finding Perkins guilty of a

sale within 1500 feet of a church, the jury necessarily found Perkins guilty of a sale. This conclusion is indisputable.

Finally, the fact Hollingsworth may have been impeached with evidence of his prior conviction and his "play for pay" relationship with law enforcement went to the weight for the jury to give his testimony and not to its admissibility. All of this was covered at some length during Perkins's cross-examination of Hollingsworth. (R. 96-99) The credibility of James Hollingsworth, of course, was a matter for the jury and not for the reviewing Court. *See* jury instruction C-1 at C.P. 48.

"The jury is the *sole* judge of the weight and credibility of the evidence." **Byrd v. State**, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988) [emphasis supplied].

Issue No. 2. Perkins has failed on direct appeal to make out a claim *prima facie* of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The record fails to affirmatively reflect ineffectiveness of constitutional dimensions. In this posture, this Court should decline to rule on the merits of Perkins's ineffective assistance of counsel claim without prejudice to Perkins to raise the issue *de novo* in a motion for post-conviction relief. *See* **Wynn v. State**, *supra*, 964 So.2d 1196 (Ct.App.Miss. September 4, 2007); **Jones v. State**, *supra*, 961 So.2d 730 (Ct.App.Miss. February 20, 2007).

In any event, lapses of counsel, if any, were not of sufficient gravity to render counsel's performance ineffective in the constitutional sense. Accordingly, resolution of this question must await a new horizon in a post-conviction environment.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS JUDICIAL DISCRETION IN OVERRULING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BASED, IN PART, ON THE GROUND THE VERDICT OF THE JURY WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

The evidence implicating Felix Perkins in the sale of cocaine consisted of the testimony of Officer Bridges and Hollingsworth identifying Felix Perkins as the seller, the testimony of James Hollingsworth who exchanged \$40 for a rock of crack, i.e., "hard," cocaine in a transaction that was hand to hand, and the videotape itself which was viewed by the jury during the testimony of Hollingsworth. (R. 95-96)

Felix Perkins sought to convince the jury he sold sheetrock, not cocaine. He contends on appeal the identification testimony of the State's star witness, James Hollingsworth, a paid informant acting as an agent for the State, was sufficiently impeached at trial and was unworthy of belief. (Brief of the Appellant at 5)

Perkins also contends the State failed to prove the transaction took place with 1500 feet of a church. According to Perkins the State was hide-bound to prove this element of the offense charged and that its failure to do so should work an acquittal. In short, Perkins claims his motion for a new trial should have been granted.

Perkins points to "numerous factual discrepancies," identifies "several holes in the evidence" allegedly conveying serious doubt on the verdict, and describes "other problems with the evidence." (Brief of the Appellant at 3, 4, and 5, respectively) Although he quotes the "unconscionable injustice" standard on page 4, we cannot find any argument in his brief that affirmation of the jury's verdict *in his case* would sanction an unconscionable injustice.

We respectfully submit this Court, in reviewing Perkins's weight of the evidence complaint, must look to the strength of the State's case and weigh the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict.

This Court, of course, reviews the trial court's denial of a post-trial motion under the abuse of discretion standard. **Flowers v. State**, 601 So.2d 828, 833 (Miss. 1992); **Robinson v. State**, 566 So.2d 1240, 1242 (Miss. 1990). No abuse of judicial discretion has been demonstrated here because the testimony of the witnesses for the State fully supports the verdict. Put another way, the evidence does not preponderate in favor of Perkins.

The applicable standard of review is found in McCallum v. State, No. 2007-KA-00992-COA

decided December 9, 2008 (¶¶ 23-24) [Not Yet Reported] where we find the following language:

McCallum also argues that the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a new trial because he claims that his conviction was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. "Motions for [a] new trial challenge the weight of the evidence supporting the verdict." *Bridges v. State*, 807 So.2d 1228, 1231 (¶14)(Miss. 2002). In *Chambliss v. State*, 919 So.2d 30, 33-34 (¶10) (Miss. 2005) (quoting *Bush*, 895 So.2d at 844 (¶18)), the Mississippi Supreme Court held that:

When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice. Herring v. State, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss. 1997). We have stated that on a motion for new trial, the court sits as a thirteenth juror. The motion, however, is addressed to the discretion of the court, which should be exercised with caution, and the power to grant a new trial should be invoked only in exceptional cases in which the evidence preponderates heavily against the verdict. Amiker v. Drugs for Less, Inc., 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss. 2000). However, the evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict. *Herring*, 691 So.2d at 957. A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, "unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict." *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss. 1982). Rather, as the "thirteenth juror," the court simply disagrees with the jury's resolution of the conflicting testimony. *Id.* This difference of opinion does not signify acquittal any more than a disagreement among the jurors themselves. *Id.* Instead, the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.

We conclude that the jury's verdict was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Additionally, as previously stated, Clark testified as to what happened on the day of the shooting, and Butler testified that he witnessed McCallum shoot Clark. McCallum's testimony is not sufficient to support a finding that the jury's verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Given the weight of the evidence supporting McCallum's conviction, allowing the jury's verdict to stand will not "sanction an unconscionable injustice." There is no merit to this issue. (¶¶ 23-24, Slip Opinion at 11-12]

The Credibility of Hollingsworth.

It is elementary that the jury, not the trial or reviewing Court, is the **sole judge of** the weight and credibility of evidence. **Harris v. State**, 532 So.2d 602 (Miss. 1988); **Byrd v. State**, *supra*, 522 So.2d 756, 760 (Miss. 1988). "Under our system, the jury is charged with the responsibility for weighing and considering... the credibility of witnesses." **Harris v. State**, 527 So.2d 647, 649 (Miss. 1988).

The testimony of James Hollingsworth, the State's undercover source, was not so substantially impeached and discredited as to be unworthy of belief. To the contrary, it was corroborated to the maximum degree by a video tape recording of the transaction, and the leading role was played by Felix Perkins. (R. 95-96)

Perkins testified the substance sold was sheetrock. However, no break in the chain of custody was demonstrated, and Ms Hickmon testified the substance contained "cocaine base, the crack form of cocaine." (R. 85)

The imperfection of Hollingsworth, admittedly a person of questionable repute, is not particularly relevant in this case because Perkins freely admitted he sold a substance to Hollingsworth at the time and place testified about. In any event, any imperfections went to the "weight" to give his testimony and not to its admissibility. It was a matter of credibility, and, without a doubt, the credibility of James Hollingsworth was a matter for the jury to resolve. *See* **Jones v. State,** *supra*, 961 So.2d 730, 732 (¶8) (Ct.App. 2007).

On appeal, of course, all the evidence, as a matter of law, is viewed in a light most favorable to the State's theory of the case. McClain v. State, 625 So.2d 774 (Miss. 1993).

The fact that James Hollingsworth was a person of questionable repute was a prime topic during Perkins's cross-examination of Hollingsworth, the State's star witness. (R. 96-99)

Hollingsworth credibility was also the centerpiece of Perkins's closing argument. (R. 126-135) Try as he might, Felix Perkins cannot successfully demonstrate in this case the testimony of James Hollingsworth was so incredible, improbable, and farfetched that no reasonable, hypothetical juror could find it worthy of belief.

To reverse this case in light of the facts presented would be an invasion of the province and prerogative of the jury who decided the question of guilt or innocence against the defendant after listening to allegedly discredited testimony concerning the identity of the contraband.

The Location of the Sale.

The State's proof adequately demonstrated a sale within 1500 feet of a church. We respectfully point to the testimony found in our summary of the argument where Sergeant Bridges

testified the transaction took place "... just west of the intersection of Sixth and Barnes." (R. 72) Bridges told the jury he measured the distance "with an electronic range finder" and opined "[t]his offense occurred approximately 147 feet from the Calvary Missionary Baptist Church located at Barnes and Sixth. " (R. 70)

The testimony by Bridges identifying distance and location was not outweighed by evidence to the contrary. If not overwhelming, it was at least "whelming" and was certainly enough. *See* **Heidelberg v. State**, 584 So.2d 393, 394 (Miss. 1991) ["Corroboration of Bruns' testimony, while not overwhelming, was at least 'whelming.'"]

But even if it was not and the evidence on this point preponderates in favor of the defendant, Perkins's conviction for sale of cocaine, absent other error, may still be affirmed because the sale or transfer at any location is by definition a lesser included offense of a sale or transfer taking place within 1,500 feet of a church.

Ordinarily, this appeal would be a prime candidate for application of the remand for resentencing rule.

"A jury verdict may be affirmed as to guilt, but the case remanded for re-sentencing when the proof is not sufficient to sustain a conviction for the crime charged, but is sufficient to sustain a conviction for a lesser included offense." **Biles v. State**, 338 So.2d 1004, 1005 (Miss. 1976); **Wells v. State**, 305 So.2d 333 (Miss. 1974); **Anderson v. State**, 290 So.2d 628 (Miss. 1974). *See also* **Gibby v. State**, 744 So.2d 244 (Miss. 1999).

Affirmation minus remand is the order of the day because Judge Webster, as noted by learned counsel in footnote 1 of her excellent brief, "... elected not to impose any additional sentence based on the enhancement allowed in Miss.Code Ann. §41-29-142 for the sale occurring near a church." (Brief of the Appellant at 1)

In this posture, assuming, as Perkins claims, the evidence, because of numerous factual discrepancies, "... failed to establish beyond a reasonable doubt Perkins actually sold cocaine to a violent prior convicted felon within 1500 feet of a church," Perkins's conviction of sale at any location in the county may be affirmed as a lesser included offense. By finding Perkins guilty of a sale within 1500 feet of a church, the jury necessarily found Perkins guilty of a sale. This conclusion is indisputable.

The following language found in Hyde v. State, 413 So.2d 1042, 1044 (Miss. 1982),

quoting from Evans v. State, 159 Miss. 561, 132 So. 563, 564 (1931), is applicable here:

We invite the attention of the bar to the fact that we do not reverse criminal cases where there is a straight issue of fact, or a conflict in the facts; juries are impaneled for the very purpose of passing upon such questions of disputed fact, and we do not intend to invade the province and prerogative of the jury.

In Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

.... we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss.

1983), are also worth repeating here:

We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, **would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice.** *Pearson v. State*, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983). Any less stringent rule would denigrate the constitutional power and responsibility of the jury in our criminal justice system. [emphasis supplied]

In short, this Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly

against the weight of credible evidence [Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and

unless this Court is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983).

Contrary to Perkins's position, the case at bar does not exist in this posture.

ISSUE NO. 2.

THE DEFENDANT HAS FAILED ON DIRECT APPEAL TO MAKE OUT A CLAIM *PRIMA FACIE* OF INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF TRIAL COUNSEL. THE RECORD FAILS TO AFFIRMATIVELY REFLECT INEFFECTIVENESS OF CONSTITUTIONAL DIMENSIONS.

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